REPORT

Rome, Italy, 11-15 October 1993 Joint meeting of the European Forestry Commission, twenty-sixth session, and the ECE Timber Committee, fifty-first session



United Nations Economic and Social Council



Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

PREVIOUS SESSIONS

First session Second session Third session Fourth session Fifth session Sixth session Seventh session Eighth session Ninth session Tenth session Eleventh session Tweelfth session Thirteenth session Fourteenth session Fifteenth session Sixteenth session Seventeenth session Eighteenth session Nineteenth session Twentieth session Twenty-first session Twenty-second session Twenty-third session Twenty-fourth session Twenty-fifth session

Geneva, Switzerland Geneva, Switzerland Geneva, Switzerland Rome, Italy Geneva, Switzerland Rome, Italy Geneva, Switzerland Rome, Italy Rome, Italy Rome and Florence, Italy Rome and Catanzaro, Italy Geneva and Zurich, Switzerland Rome, Italy Geneva, Switzerland Rome, Italy Rome, Italy Geneva, Switzerland Rome, Italy Rome, Italy Innsbruck, Austria Rome, Italy Budapest, Hungary Geneva, Switzerland Rome, Italy Oslo, Norway

6-10 July 1948 5-9 September 1949 28 August-1 September 1950 1-6 October 1951 14-25 October 1952 8-16 October 1953 8-13 November 1954 10-15 October 1955 7-14 May 1957 7-13 July 1959 22-30 May 1961 30 September-7 October 1963 15-19 May 1967 9-11 October 1968 7-11 September 1970 3-6 May 1972 20-24 October 1975 13-17 September 1977 24-28 September 1979 22-26 March 1982 5-9 December 1983 28 October-1 November 1985 12-16 October 1987 5-8 June 1989 3-7 June 1991

REPORT

of the

JOINT MEETING

of the

EUROPEAN FORESTRY COMMISSION TWENTY-SIXTH SESSION

and the

TIMBER COMMITTEE OF THE UNITED NATIONS ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR EUROPE FIFTY-FIRST SESSION

Rome, Italy 11 - 15 October 1993

The text of the report is also being reproduced by ECE in document ECE/TIM/71, the annexes of which, however, contain the programme of work of the Timber Committee, including a provisional list of meetings in 1994 and 1995.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Recommendations and conclusions	Page lii
	Paragraph
Introduction	1 - 4
Adoption of the agenda	. 5
Arrangements for chairing the joint session	6
MATTERS OF COMMON INTEREST TO THE COMMISSION AND THE COMMITTEE	
Global Forest Resources Assessment 1990: implications for the forest and forest industry sector in the temperate zone	
(a) Main findings and policy implications of the temperate zone Forest Resources Assessment 1990	7 - 8
(b) Follow-up to the 1990 assessment and preparations for the Assessment 2000	9 - 12
Implications of UNCED (United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, Rio de Janeiro, June 1992)	13 - 20
Assistance to countries of central and eastern Europe in transition	21 - 32
Joint subsidiary bodies and other activities of common interest to the Commission and the Committee	
(a) Joint FAO/ECE/ILO Committee on Forest Technology, Management and Training	33
(b) Joint FAO/ECE Working Party on Forest Economics and Statistics	34 - 35
(c) Joint study tour to the United States of America in 1994	36
(d) European timber trends and prospects to the year 2000 and beyond (ETTS V) .	37
(e) Public relations in the forestry and forest industries sector	38
(f) Study on long-term historical changes to the temperate forest resources: pilot study	39
(g) Tropical Forests Action Programme (TFAP)	40 - 44
(h) Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe	45
(i) Other international meetings and activities	46
Market developments in 1993 and prospects for 1994	47 - 48
EUROPEAN FORESTRY COMMISSION MATTERS	
(a) Matters arising from the eleventh session of the Committee on Forestry and the eighteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe	49
(b) Follow-up on the conclusions and recommendations of the twenty-fifth session of the Commission	50

	Paragraphs
(c) AFWC/EFC/NEFC Committee on Mediterranean Forestry Questions - Silva Mediterranea; Mediterranean Forest Action Programme	51 - 52
(d) Working Party on the Management of Mountain Watersheds	53 - 56
(e) Cooperation with other Commissions	57 - 58
(f) Programme of work of the European Forestry Commission, 1994-1998	59 - 61
(g) Matters to be referred to the Committee on Forestry	62
(h) Election of Officers	63
(i) Date and place of next session	64
TIMBER COMMITTEE MATTERS	•
(a) Matters arising from the forty-eighth session of the Economic Commission for Europe	65 - 66
(b) Activities of other Principal Subsidiary Bodies of ECE of concern to the Timber Committee	67
(c) Other activities under the Timber Committee	68
(d) Programme of work of the Timber Committee, 1994-1998	69 - 74
(e) Election of Officers	75
(f) Date of next session	76
Other business of the Commission and the Committee	77
Adoption of joint session report	7 8
Appendix A - Agenda	Page 12 Page 14 Page 24

RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

GLOBAL FOREST RESOURCES ASSESSMENT 1990

Follow-up to the 1990 assessment and preparations for the Assessment 2000

- The meeting recognized the need to ensure that forest resources assessments (temperate forests) take fully into account the policy questions and information needs of policy-makers from the design stage of the inquiry (para. 8).
- 2. The meeting welcomed the additional resources to be applied to this activity in the 1994-95 Programme of Work and Budget and <u>recommended</u> that FAO in the future continue to increase its funding to forestry (para. 9).
- The meeting acknowledged that better comparability of data generated by forest resources
 assessments in the various regions of the world was of paramount importance. It gave general
 support to securing agreement world-wide on concepts and classifications for global forest
 resources assessments (para. 12).

IMPLICATIONS OF UNCED

4. The meeting supported the recommendation of COFO to enhance the role of the FAO regional forestry commissions in support of coordination, monitoring and reporting on national progress achieved in UNCED follow-up implementation in forestry (para. 17).

PUBLIC RELATIONS IN THE FOREST AND FOREST INDUSTRIES SECTOR

5. In noting the terms of reference and programme of work of the FAO/ECE Team of Public Relations Specialists in the Forest and Forest Industries Sector, the meeting expressed support and encouraged the team to focus on activities such as the "public relations toolkit" for countries that wished to use it (para. 38).

COOPERATION WITH OTHER COMMISSIONS

6. In view of the high degree of common interest in the subjects addressed by the North American Forestry Commission (NAFC) and the European Forestry Commission (EFC), the Commission recommended close cooperation between the two Commissions and warmly accepted the invitation to the Chairman of EFC to attend the next session of NAFC. It further recommended that cooperation between the two Commissions be a regular item on its own agenda (para. 58).

INTRODUCTION

- 1. The ECE Timber Committee, for its fifty-first session, and the FAO European Forestry Commission, for its twenty-sixth session, met jointly in FAO headquarters, Rome, from 11 to 15 October 1993. The session was attended by representatives from Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, European Economic Community, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russian Federation, Slovak Republic, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, Ukraine, United Kingdom and United States of America.
- 2. The following intergovernmental organization participated: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD).
- 3. The following non-governmental organizations were represented: European Confederation of Woodworking Industries, European Federation of Associations of Particleboard Manufacturers, European Forest Institute, Greenpeace International, International Technical Tropical Timber Association and the International Union of Forestry Research Organizations.
- 4. The session was addressed by Mr C. H. Murray, Assistant Director-General and Head of the Forestry Department, on behalf of the Director-General of FAO, Mr Edouard Saouma, and by Mr J. Vercueil, Director of the Joint ECE/FAO Agriculture and Timber Division (Geneva), on behalf of the Executive Secretary of the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe, Mr Y. Berthelot.

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA (Item 1 of the agenda)

5. The provisional agenda, as set out in document ECE/TIM/69;FO:EFC/93/1, was adopted.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR CHAIRING THE JOINT SESSION (Item 2 of the agenda)

6. The session agreed that the Chairman of the Timber Committee and the Chairman of the European Forestry Commission be co-chairmen of the joint session.

MATTERS OF INTEREST TO THE COMMISSION AND THE COMMITTEE

GLOBAL FOREST RESOURCES ASSESSMENT 1990: IMPLICATIONS FOR THE FOREST AND FOREST INDUSTRY SECTOR IN THE TEMPERATE ZONE (Item 3 of the agenda) (TIM/R.220; FO:EFC/93/2)

- (a) Main findings and policy implications of the temperate zone Forest Resource Assessment 1990 (FRA 90) (TIM/R.221; FO:EFC/93/3)
- 7. The joint session based its discussion of this item on a secretariat note (TIM/R.221;FO:EFC/93/3) and on a paper by the European Forest Institute (EFI). The session thanked EFI for its contribution to the discussion and noted that all users would have free access to data which EFI would obtain from international organizations.
- 8. The conclusions of the debate were:
 - the design of the enquiry needed to be expanded to address more specific policy questions and information needs of policy makers; in particular, the implications of the increasing interest in non-wood forest functions must be taken into account;
 - forest cover in Europe is relatively stable, partly as a result of well enforced forest policies. Yet FRA-90 could only provide limited information on the quality and location of the resources which required also more attention in future assessments;
 - the over-supply of wood in many countries made it urgent to develop new markets for wood, especially small-sized wood;

- forest owners should apply flexible, site specific, management strategies:
- forest management for meeting all the varied needs of society was not cheap: this should be taken into account by public policy makers. At the same time, all possible steps should be taken to reduce costs and increase incomes;
- the particular needs of the Mediterranean forests should continue to be addressed, notably through the Mediterranean Forest Action Plan and the work of Silva Mediterranea;
- it was important to inform, educate and involve the public in forest sector decision making.
- (b) Follow-up to the 1990 assessment and preparations for the Assessment 2000
- 9. The meeting commended FAO and ECE for the work done on the Forest Resources Assessment 1990, including the analysis made of the results and the identification of issues to be solved by future assessments. It emphasized that global forest resources assessment was a core activity of FAO's Forestry Department. It therefore welcomed the additional resources to be applied to this activity in the 1994-95 Programme of Work and Budget and <u>recommended</u> that FAO in the future continue to increase its funding to forestry.
- 10. The meeting noted that one of the main findings of the assessment for the industrialized countries was the increasing importance of all other functions of the forest as well as that of timber producing. It emphasized the need to introduce efficient indicators to measure the relevant factors, such as biodiversity and forest vitality.
- 11. The proposals made by the Joint FAO/ECE Working Party on Forest Economics and Statistics, based on the findings of the "Kotka II" meeting 1 with regard to the programme and technical modalities of future global forest resources assessments were noted. The meeting requested the secretariats to take the necessary measures to refine and implement those proposals.
- 12. The meeting acknowledged that better comparability of data generated by forest resources assessments in the various regions of the world was of paramount importance. It gave general support to securing agreement world-wide on concepts and classifications for global forest resources assessments. To ensure that these assessments take fully into account the information needs of policy-makers, it encouraged better use of COFO, the regional forestry commissions and the Timber Committee as sources of advice.

IMPLICATIONS OF UNCED (UNITED NATIONS CONFERENCE ON ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT, RIO DE JANEIRO, JUNE 1992) (Item 4 of the agenda) (TIM/R.223; FO:EFC/93/5))

- 13. The meeting emphasized that UNCED had stressed the need for all countries to prepare national forestry action plans and that the implementation of UNCED follow-up programmes was the responsibility of national governments. In this context major forestry issues in Europe included the increased availability of land for forestry, over-production of wood, forest damage and heightened interest in non-wood forest products, functions and services.
- 14. After having been informed of ongoing and planned activities of FAO, as a response to UNCED in forestry, the meeting reiterated the call of other fora for FAO to strengthen its role in the implementation of UNCED decisions.
- 15. The meeting was informed that FAO was requested to deal with land issues in an integrated manner as called for in UNCED Agenda 21, especially chapters 10 to 14. It also noted the decision

FAO/ECE meeting of experts on forest resources assessment held in Kotka (Finland) in May 1993 in cooperation with the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and with support of the Finnish Government.

of the inter-agency committee on sustainable development (IACSD) to assign to FAO responsibilities in these areas as "task manager".

- 16. Several delegations emphasized that the necessary involvement in UNCED follow-up activities should lead to a re-consideration of priorities in FAO's future work programme with a reduction of efforts in other areas. One delegation, however, informed that it would make available more extra-budgetary resources for forestry and encouraged other delegations to consider doing likewise.
- 17. The meeting supported the recommendation of the Committee on Forestry (COFO) to enhance the role of the FAO regional forestry commissions in support of coordination, monitoring and reporting on national progress achieved in UNCED follow-up implementation in forestry. It underlined the need for inter-regional consultations and exchange of information. It noted, however, that not all regional forestry commissions were at the same level of efficacy and that further support and strengthening of the activities of some regional commissions might be required.
- 18. The meeting was informed of the outcome of the second Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe (Helsinki, June 1993). This conference had again discussed in Europe issues of sustainable management of forests at inter-ministerial level. The Helsinki and the preceding Strasbourg conferences were seen as a "political motor". The resolutions emanating from these two conferences represented an appropriate follow-up to UNCED within the European context. These two ministerial conferences had provided appropriate fora for forest policy development and several countries had already embarked on major policy reviews and changes in the forestry sector. The meeting endorsed the proposal, by the three countries responsible for the coordination of follow-up work (Finland, Austria and Portugal), for the establishment and activities of a "Liaison Unit". This work should be carried out in close collaboration with existing international organizations without overlap or duplication in activities (see para. 45).
- 19. The meeting was also informed about the outcome of the seminar of experts on sustainable development of boreal and temperate forests (Montreal, September 1993) under the sponsorship of the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe (CSCE). It welcomed this initiative as a further contribution to the discussion of sustainable development in the forest sector, and to follow up the process of UNCED and the Helsinki Conference and an important contribution to the integration of environmental considerations and socio economic aspects of development. The representative of Canada asked delegates to consider the outcome of the CSCE meeting of technical experts when developing their own criteria for the conservation, use and sustainable development of their own forests.
- 20. The meeting paid tribute to Finland and Canada for having taken the initiative to host the Helsinki and Montreal meetings.

ASSISTANCE TO COUNTRIES OF CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE IN TRANSITION (Item 5 of the agenda) (TIM/R.224; FO:EFC/93/6)

- 21. The meeting was informed of the activities that had been carried out in accordance with the programme of assistance to the economies in transition in central and eastern Europe [programme element 9(B).1.1]. Many countries stressed the importance of this activity and provided useful proposals and recommendations on its development. A number of delegations expressed appreciation for the work done and readiness to support it practically.
- 22. The meeting was informed of the most important aspects of the development of the forestry and timber industry sector, problems encountered and needs for international assistance required in the process of reforms on the basis of the reports that a number of countries (10) had made available before the joint session, supplemented by oral statements.
- 23. The meeting considered the programme which included country profiles, workshops and consideration in ETTS V. FAO was also contributing, notably in the field of institutions and policies.

- 24. The delegation of Poland informed the meeting of the results of the workshop on forming new forestry law in countries of central and eastern Europe in transition (Poland, 27 September-1 October 1993).
- 25. The delegation of the Czech Republic confirmed the proposal of the Ministry of Agriculture to organize the workshops on evaluation of forest benefits through a total evaluation of production, environmental and sectoral functions of forests (September 1994) and on the effect of global climate change on boreal and temperate forests (October 1994).
- 26. The meeting took note that a workshop would be organized jointly by the Government of Austria and FAO on the management and economics of forest operations (July 1994).
- 27. The observer from the International Union of Forestry Research Organizations (IUFRO) expressed willingness and readiness to cooperate in the area of assistance to countries in transition.
- 28. The delegation of the Slovak Republic confirmed the proposal of his government to organize the workshop on institution building, framework conditions and policy infrastructure for sustainable development of the forestry sector under market economy conditions in spring 1994.
- 29. As regards the general outline of the programme, the meeting considered that it should continue to address the specific areas where FAO/ECE had relevant experience, notably institutional changes, sustainable management, privatization, etc., and keep close to countries' needs and priorities, as expressed notably in the report of the informal meeting on strategies for assistance to countries in transition (Ossiach, Austria, October 1992) which was endorsed by EFC. The joint session noted that it had been proposed that FAO/ECE be responsible for the implementation of Helsinki resolution H3, which should also guide activities in this field.
- 30. The joint session was informed that a considerable part of the resources devoted to the programme came from extra-budgetary sources (both transition and market economy countries). The scope of the programme was effectively limited by the availability of resources.
- 31. The joint session endorsed the proposal that the team of specialists on assistance to countries of central and eastern Europe in transition, set up in accordance with the decision of the fiftieth session of the Timber Committee, should periodically review (two-three years) the whole programme of assistance to ensure it was in accordance with countries' needs and effective and efficient.
- 32. The joint session thanked all those who contributed to the programme, particularly the authorities of those countries which had hosted meetings and workshops.

JOINT SUBSIDIARY BODIES AND OTHER ACTIVITIES OF COMMON INTEREST TO THE COMMISSION AND THE COMMITTEE (item 6 of the agenda) (TIM/R.225; FO:EFC/93/7)

- (a) <u>Joint FAO/ECE/ILO Committe on Forest Technology, Management and Training</u> (TIM/EFC/WP.1/22)
- 33. The joint session was informed of the results of the nineteenth session of the Joint Committee which had taken place in Italy in September-October 1992, on the basis of its report (TIM/EFC/WP.1/22) which it endorsed, subject to the comments below. It took note of the conclusions and recommendations of the Joint Committee seminars, as presented in document TIM/EFC/WP.1/R.109/Rev.1. It thanked Italy and all the countries which had hosted seminars, workshops or other Joint Committee activities. It stressed the importance of improved dissemination of the results of the Joint Committee's programmes and urged that it be selective in its choice of activities which should accord with the priorities set by EFC and the Timber Committee. The Joint Committee should review its programme in the light of the Helsinki resolutions. It welcomed the Joint Committee's decision to carry out a review of its objectives and methods of work on the basis of the report of a task force. It was informed of the preliminary recommendations of the task force and of the general results of a survey of national opinion, but

expressed disappointment that it was not intended to notify the information to the parent bodies until after the Joint Committee meeting in November 1994.

- (b) Joint FAO/ECE Working Party on Forest Economics and Statistics (TIM/EFC/WP.2/23)
- 34. The report of the nineteenth session of the Working Party (Geneva, 7-9 June 1993) was presented by its Chairman. The meeting noted the recommendations of the working party on forest resources assessment, collection and dissemination of statistics, productivity and profitability of the forest sector, the fifth study of European timber trends and prospects, assistance to countries in transition, and progress in the collection of statistics on conversion factors and forest fires.
- 35. The meeting endorsed the report of the session. In particular, while stressing the importance of maintaining a high quality of statistical reporting, it welcomed the recommendation to streamline statistical publications by dropping quarterly data and utilizing UN Statistics Office COMTRADE data as the basis for trade statistics. The importance of end use statistics was stressed. On the matter of forest resources assessments, the meeting agreed with the emphasis given by the Working Party to the importance of compatibility in approach and core information in the temperate, boreal and tropical assessments, and supported the continuation of a flexible process of consultations at the technical and policy levels to achieve these objectives. The meeting emphasized the importance of the study on the outlook for non-wood goods and services but considered that this should follow ETTS V when resources could be made available.
 - (c) Joint study tour to the United States of America in 1994 (TIM/R.226; FO:EFC/93/8)
- 36. The joint session was informed that it had been necessary to postpone the tour for one year to 1995.
 - (d) <u>European timber trends and prospects to the year 2000 and beyond (ETTS V)</u> (TIM/R.227; FO:EFC/93/9)
- 37. The meeting reviewed preparations on the basis of secretariat note TIM/R.227;FO:EFC/93/9 and approved the outline presented. It drew attention to the important effects of increased recycling of paper; the long-term consequences of this development should be the first subject to be examined by the team of specialists established by the Timber Committee in 1992 and the results of this review incorporated into chapter VII of ETTS V. It was also suggested that a contribution by EFI to ETTS V be considered; the secretariat made it clear that while it was grateful to EFI for the contributions already made it would not establish an institutionally privileged relationship with EFI without a mandate to this effect by member countries and within a precise framework.
 - (e) Public relations in the forest and forest industries sector (TIM/R.228; FO:EFC/93/10)
- 38. The report of the first meeting of the FAO/ECE Team of Public Relations Specialists in the Forest and Forest Industries Sector was presented. In noting its suggested terms of reference and programme of work, the meeting expressed support and encouraged government ministries to nominate experts to the team which should focus on activities such as the "public relations toolkit" for countries that wished to use it (a set of notes guiding best practices in public relations). The work of the team should be time limited and in any case be reviewed in 1995. France was commended for the excellent arrangements for the team's successful first meeting and Sweden offered to host the next meeting of the team in May 1994.
 - (f) Study on long-term historical changes to the temperate forest resources: pilot study (TIM/R.229 and Add. 1; FO:EFC/93/11 and Add. 1)
- 39. The joint session was informed of progress on the pilot study consisting of country reports by seven countries and a synthesis by Mr G. A. Morin (France). It was agreed that countries would be asked to comment, especially on the synthesis, and to contribute further studies if they considered it appropriate. The secretariat should finalize and issue the document, taking account

of comments and contributions. The joint session thanked the authors of the country reports and Mr Morin for their very interesting work.

- (g) Tropical Forests Action Programme (TFAP) (TIM/R.230; FO:EFC/93/12)
- 40. On the basis of secretariat note TIM/R.230; FO:EFC/93/12 the joint session was informed of major developments regarding TFAP since its twenty-fifth session, in particular the completion of the revamping process. The process resulted in a country-driven, multidisciplinary and participatory approach to the formulation and implementation of national forestry action plans, which should include policy and institutional reforms. The meeting was also informed of FAO's lead role in this regard, which included the production and wide dissemination of revised operational principles, as well as extensive training of national coordinators.
- 41. The joint session noted the difficulties being faced by many countries which had embarked on TFAP at the time of implementing their national forestry action plans because of the slow flow of external funding. Some donors stated that they would provide bilateral funding for assisting countries in strengthening their capacity. A large number of countries emphasized that FAO needed to provide continued inputs to national TFAP initiatives within its assigned functions of international liaison and information dissemination, technical support and operational assistance. To meet these demands FAO should give higher resource allocations to its TFAP activities.
- 42. The joint session was briefed on FAO's close cooperation with the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) in implementing Capacity 21, the capacity building programme undertaken as a follow-up to UNCED, and in particular on the creation of a "forestry window" within it. To date, however, this programme had not attracted significant donor commitments.
- 43. The joint session agreed with the proposed regionalization of support activities in line with the emphasis on country-driven implementation. However, it stressed the need to keep a critical mass of resources at the TFAP Coordinating Unit at FAO Headquarters in order to ensure international liaison, information and interregional activities.
- 44. The joint session was informed of preparations under way to convene the Consultative Group on TFAP, recently established by the FAO Council. One country urged that extra-budgetary resources be made available to allow for convening the first meeting of the Group.
 - (h) Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe (TIM/R.225 and Add. 1; FO:EFC/93/7 and Add. 1)
- 45. The meeting was informed of the results of this Conference by Mr Patosaari (Finland), on behalf of the Conference Co-Chairmen, and welcomed this important event. It also supported the proposals for follow-up action, which aimed to use existing international structures whenever possible. In particular, it noted that it was proposed that there be close cooperation between the Liaison Unit for the Conference follow-up and the FAO/ECE secretariat. The Liaison Unit would report on the implementation of the Helsinki resolutions to the regular sessions of EFC and the Timber Committee. Similar reporting would be ensured by the various bodies responsible for follow-up to the Strasbourg Conference. The secretariat was requested to follow up and prepare detailed proposals in close cooperation with the Liaison Unit. Delegates were invited to comment in writing on Mr Patosaari's proposals. It was agreed that the secretariat continue to keep in contact with those non-governmental organizations participating in this work.
 - (i) Other international meetings and activities
- 46. None.

MARKET DEVELOPMENTS IN 1993 AND PROSPECTS FOR 1994 (Item 7 of the agenda) (TIM/R.231; FO:EFC/93/13)

- 47. The joint session's discussion on the forest products markets was based on national reports and statistics, countries' estimates for 1993 and 1994 and the secretariat's *Annual Forest Products Market Review* (Volume XLVI, N° 3, of the *Timber Bulletin*). The Committee approved a statement on the market for issue as a press release and for inclusion, together with estimates for 1993 and 1994 and other tabular material, in *Forest Products Markets in 1993 and Prospects for 1994* (Volume XLVI, N° 5, of the *Timber Bulletin*).
- 48. In view of the interest in and importance of developments for waste paper on forest products markets, it was suggested that a question on this be included in the Timber Committee questionnaires. The secretariat agreed to explore this possibility, taking into account the other sources of information on waste paper, notably the FAO Advisory Committee on Pulp and Paper.

EUROPEAN FORESTRY COMMISSION MATTERS (Item 8 of the agenda)

- (a) Matters arising from the eleventh session of the Committee on Forestry and the eighteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe (FO:EFC/93/14)
- 49. The Commission took note of the document concerning matters arising from the eleventh session of the Committee on Forestry and the eighteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe.
 - (b) Follow-up on the conclusions and recommendations of the twenty-fifth session of the Commission (FO:EFC/93/15)
- 50. The Commission noted the follow-up action taken in response to the recommendations of its twenty-fifth session.
 - (c) <u>AFWC/EFC/NEFC Committee on Mediterranean Forestry Questions Silva Mediterranea;</u> <u>Mediterranean Forest Action Programme (FO:EFC/93/16)</u>
- 51. The Commission was informed of the activities of the AFWC/EFC/NEFC Committee on Mediterranean Forestry Questions *Silva Mediterranea* which is a common statutory body of the European Forestry Commission, the African Forestry and Wildlife Commission and the Near East Forestry Commission. These activities included mainly those of its six research networks and the formulation of the Mediterranean Forest Action Programme (MED-FAP).
- 52. The Commission welcomed the formulation of MED-FAP to serve as a framework for countries to implement national (or sub-national) forestry action plans and as a response to recommendations made at several international meetings [Near East Forestry Commission (Tunis, 1987), Silva Mediterranea (Athens, 1989) and the World Forestry Congress (Paris, 1991)]. Two delegations expressed interest in supporting financially the implementation of the Programme, one of which stated its support was conditional on the participation of other countries. The Commission adopted the report of the fifteenth session of Silva Mediterranea held in Faro (Portugal) from 16 to 20 March 1992.
 - (d) <u>Working Party on the Management of Mountain Watersheds</u> (FO:EFC/93/17)
- 53. The Commission was informed of the results of the eighteenth session of the EFC Working Party on the Management of Mountain Watersheds which, together with a study tour, was held at Oberstdorf (Germany) in June 1992.
- 54. The major items discussed were: geographical information systems and data management systems and their application in watershed management; risk zoning and early warning systems; advances in torrent hydraulics; mountain ecosystems with protective functions with special regard to mountain forests; and follow-up to Resolution 4 of the Strasbourg Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe, "Adapting the management of mountain forests to new environmental conditions".

- 55. The nineteenth session will be held in Jaca (Spain) from 4 to 8 July 1994. The main items on the agenda will be a FAO/IUFRO symposium on flash floods in mountain areas, the application of geographic information systems, torrent hydraulics and implementation of Resolution 4 of the Strasbourg Ministerial Conference.
- 56. The Commission approved the report of the Working Party and appreciated the initiatives taken especially by the Czech Republic in the increased involvement of eastern European countries in the activities of the Working Party.

(e) Cooperation with other Commissions

- 57. The Chairman of the North American Forestry Commission (NAFC) described its organization, role and activities, mentioning that it worked through a series of study groups on forest fires, tree improvement, multi-lingual vocabulary, light-frame structures, forest engineering, silviculture, insects and diseases, and the effects of atmospheric pollution. Subjects under consideration, for inclusion in the NAFC programme, included global issues such as UNCED follow-up, as well as the North American Free Trade Area, migratory species, ecological reserves and climate change.
- 58. In view of the high degree of common interest in the subjects addressed, the Commission recommended close cooperation between the two Commissions and warmly accepted the invitation to the Chairman of EFC to attend the next session of NAFC. It further recommended that cooperation between the two Commissions be a regular item on its own agenda.
 - (f) Programme of work of the European Forestry Commission, 1994-1998 (FO:EFC/93/18)
- 59. The Commission reviewed its programme on the basis of the draft presented by the secretariat (FO:EFC/93/18), which took into account the work programmes of the subsidiary bodies, discussed under other agenda items. A number of countries considered the programme too full taking into account the limits on resources in the secretariat and member countries. It was considered essential to maintain, and if possible improve, the quality of the work carried out, which could be endangered if the resources available were insufficient for the programme approved. Some delegations considered it necessary to assign priorities to the different parts of the programme. Two delegations indicated that their highest priority would go to main areas I and III (the Commission itself and statistics and economics).
- 60. The Commission attached top priority to its work relating to sustainable development in the areas covered by the Commission. It was noted that many of the Commission's current activities were in fact aimed at furthering sustainable development, although this was not clear in the presentation of the programme. Top priority should be given to developing a closer link between the Commission's programme and the UNCED and Helsinki processes. In addition, a specific programme element should be devoted to the reporting and liaison functions assigned to the Commission with regard to the UNCED and Helsinki follow-up processes.
- 61. In view of the fact that a comprehensive review of the programme to take account of the points made was not possible during the session, but that changes should be effective before the meeting of the Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD) in June 1995, the Commission endorsed the draft presented (see *Appendix D*) but asked the secretariat to prepare a revised version, taking account of the comments made, for the Executive Committee's consideration. The Executive Committee was authorised to make final decisions on the programme to be implemented before the next session of the Commission in 1995.
 - (g) Matters to be referred to the Committee on Forestry
- 62. The Commission decided that the following matters be referred to the Committee on Forestry:

Global Forest Resources Assessment 1990

- the need to ensure that forest resources assessments (temperate forests) take fully into account the policy questions and information needs of policy-makers from the design stage of the inquiry (paras. 8 and 12); the need to develop appropriate criteria for monitoring sustainability and biodiversity (para. 10); and the importance of ensuring comparability of information between assessments for the temperate and boreal forests and the tropical forests as well as consistent presentation of results at the global level (para. 12);

Implications of UNCED

- the recommendation on the enhanced role of the Commission in support of UNCED follow-up and close collaboration with the co-chairmen in the follow-up to the Helsinki Ministerial Conference (para. 17);

Public relations in the forest and forest industries sector

- the initiative on public relations in forestry and the development of a "toolkit" guiding best practice in public relations for the forest sector (para. 38).

(h) Election of officers

63. The Commission elected the following to hold office until its next session:

Chairman:

Mr K. Rykowski (Poland)

Vice-Chairmen:

Mr J. Heino (Finland

Mr J. Casquilho (Portugal)

Mr W. Sheridan (United Kingdom)

(i) Date and place of next session

64. The Commission warmly accepted the invitation of Turkey to host its next session in early March 1995.

TIMBER COMMITTEE MATTERS (Item 9 of the agenda)

(a) Matters arising from the forty-eighth session of the Economic Commission for Europe

- 65. The Committee was informed of the discussions of its work by the Commission and of the Commission's decisions at its forty-eighth session. With regard to decision I(48), it noted that it had no draft decisions or amendments to its mandate for consideration by the Commission. With regard to its programme of work (see paras. 69-74), it had been possible to carry out the programme with the available resources, although some delays had occurred. It considered that resources available were being used efficiently. The programme of work and calendar of meetings are annexed to the Timber Committee report. The activities of other ECE principal subsidiary bodies were taken into account when drawing up the programme of work, but the major effective cooperation is with FAO, as typified by the joint session. The in-depth review of its publications had been carried out by an *ad hoc* meeting and the Working Party on Forest Economics and Statistics, with the support of the secretariat of the Conference of European Statisticians.
- 66. In response to decision F(48) "Cooperation in the field of environment and sustainable development" the Timber Committee noted that sustainable development was a constant dimension of its activities, reflected in all parts of its programme. It decided to contribute to assessing progress in implementing Agenda 21 at the regional level in the area of interest of the Committee, and to that effect:
 - to review its whole programme in the light of sustainable development according to modalities laid down above;

- to invite its subsidiary bodies to report on their activities that contribute to implementing Agenda 21 and to examine whether any activities should be reoriented or new ones developed in the light of Agenda 21;
- (b) Activities of other Principal Subsidiary Bodies of ECE of concern to the Timber Committee
- 67. The Comittee was informed of these activities, and took them into account when drawing upits programme.
 - (c) Other activities under the Timber Committee (TIM/R.234)
- 68. None (subjects treated under other agenda items).
 - (d) Programme of work of the Timber Committee, 1994-1998 (TIM/R-235)
- 69. The Committee considered its draft programme of work for 1994-1998, prepared by the secretariat on the basis of the relevant decisions of the Commission, the Committee's previous programme, the programmes of its subsidiary bodies and the recommendations of seminars and teams of specialists. The Committee was also informed of the availability of secretariat resources to carry out its programme.
- 70. The Committee agreed that the highest priority should be given to contributing to sustainable development in the region, and to supporting the UNCED and Helsinki follow-up processes. It requested the secretariat, in close cooperation with the office holders, to review the programme from this point of view and make proposals which would ensure that the objectives of sustainable development as defined at UNCED and the Helsinki Conference are fully taken into account. Subject to this review, it approved its programme of work for 1994-1998 (annex I of Timber Committee report). This review should be undertaken in harmony with the review of the EFC programme referred to above (paras. 59-61) and in accordance with Commission decision F(48).
- 71. The Committee agreed that the two subsidiary bodies should also be asked to review their work programmes in the light of sustainable development, and to take into account the orientation to this effect contained in the proposals to be formulated for the programmes of the two parent bodies. These proposals should be transmitted to the bureaux of the Joint Committee and the Working Party as soon as they have been approved by the office holders.
- 72. The Committee urged the secretariat, in cooperation with the lead countries, to convene the planned meetings of the teams on wood and energy, on development of new products, recycling etc., and on the outlook for non-wood goods and sevices as soon as possible.
- 73. The Committee considered that wood energy questions were becoming increasingly important and complex in many countries. The team of experts on wood and energy should be reactivated, with the initial objective of advising the secretariat on the discussion of these topics in ETTS V. Thereafter the team should propose further activities, and consider common activities or even merging with the team on development of new products, recycling, markets and applications for forest products, given the interaction of the two questions (burning of wood or paper as an alternative to recycling).
- 74. The Committee reviewed the rank ordering of its programme elements, and agreed to make the following changes to the list in TIM/R.235, annex II:
 - 1. Insert in first place new project 9(B).4.1 (UNCED and Helsinki); and
 - 2. Insert former 9(B).4.1 Use of wood for energy after 9(B).5.1 Activities to assist countries in transition to a market economy.

The Committee was informed that the secretariat considered it was in a position to carry out the full programme: the priorities would serve as guidance if, for unforeseen reasons, this were not possible.

(e) Election of officers

75. The Committee agreed that its office holders should continue to comprise a Chairman and two Vice-Chairmen. In the interests of continuity, the outgoing Chairman should serve as Vice-Chairman after his term of office as Chairman. The Committee elected Mr D. Lipman (Russian Federation) Chairman and Messrs Darr (USA) and Siegel (Austria) Vice-Chairmen, to hold office until the end of the fifty-second session. It expressed its thanks to the outgoing office-holders for their contribution to its work.

(f) Date of next session

76. The Committee agreed that its next session should be held from 10 to 14 October 1994, subject to the availability of conference services.

OTHER BUSINESS OF THE COMMISSION AND THE COMMITTEE (Item 10 of the agenda))

- 77. The joint session noted that it had been difficult to absorb all the contents of the heavy volume of documentation for the session. It invited the secretariat to provide, on the front page of all documents,
 - 1. A very brief summary of the contents; and
 - 2. An indication of what action or decision was required.

ADOPTION OF THE JOINT SESSION REPORT (Item 11 of the agenda)

78. The Timber Committee and the European Forestry Commission adopted the report of their joint session.

AGENDA

- 1. Adoption of agenda
- 2. Arrangements for chairing the joint session

MATTERS OF COMMON INTEREST TO THE COMMISSION AND THE COMMITTEE

- Global Forest Resources Assessment 1990: implications for the forestry and forest products sector in the temperate zone
 - (a) Main findings and policy implications of the temperate zone Forest Resources
 Assessment 1990
 - (b) Follow-up to the 1990 assessment and preparations for the Assessment 2000
- 4. Implications of UNCED (United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, Rio de Janeiro, June 1992)
- 5. Assistance to countries of central and eastern Europe in transition
- Joint subsidiary bodies and other activities of common interest to the Commission and the Committee
 - (a) Joint FAO/ECE/ILO Committee on Forest Technology, Management and Training
 - (b) Joint FAO/ECE Working Party on Forest Economics and Statistics
 - (c) Joint study tour to the United States of America in 1994
 - (d) European timber trends and prospects to the year 2000 and beyond (ETTS V)
 - (e) Public relations in the forestry and forest industries sector
 - (f) Study on long-term historical changes to the temperate forest resources: pilot study
 - (g) Tropical Forests Action Programme (TFAP)
 - (h) Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe
 - (i) Other international meetings and activities
- Market developments in 1993 and prospects for 1994
- 8. EUROPEAN FORESTRY COMMISSION MATTERS
 - (a) Matters arising from the eleventh session of the Committee on Forestry and the eighteenth FAO Regional Conference for Europe

- (b) Follow-up on the conclusions and recommendations of the twenty-fifth session of the Commission
- (c) AFWC/EFC/NEFC Committee on Mediterranean Forestry Questions Silva Mediterranea; Mediterranean Forest Action Programme
- (d) Working Party on the Management of Mountain Watersheds
- (e) Cooperation with other Commissions
- (f) Programme of work of the European Forestry Commission, 1994-1998
- (g) Matters to be referred to the Committee on Forestry
- (h) Election of Officers
- (i) Date and place of next session

9. TIMBER COMMITTEE MATTERS

- (a) Matters arising from the forty-eighth session of the Economic Commission for Europe
- (b) Activities of other Principal Subsidiary Bodies of ECE of concern to the Timber Committee
- (c) Other activities under the Timber Committee
- (d) Programme of work of the Timber Committee, 1994-1998
- (e) Election of Officers
- 10. Other business of the Commission and the Committee
- 11. Adoption of joint session report

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

AUSTRIA

Delegate

Günter Siegel

Head of the Special Branch for

Forestry-related International Affairs

Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry

Ferdinandstrasse 4

A-1020 Wien

Adviser

Herbert Kohlross

Forestry Secretary

President's Conference of Austrian

Chambers of Agriculture

Löweistrasse 12

1014 Wien

Associate -

Gerhard Dr. Altrichter

Managing Director

Association of Austrian Sawmilling

Industries

Austrian Economic Chamber of Commerce

Uraniastrasse 4

A-1011 Wien

BELGIUM

Delegate

Hubert de Schryver

Ambassadeur

Représentant permanent auprès de la FAO

Représentation permanente du Royaume de

Belgique auprès de la FAO

Via Omero, 8

00197 Rome

Alternate

Colette Taquet

Représentant permanente adjoint auprès de

a FAC

Représentation permanente du Royaume de

Belgique auprès de la FAO

Via Omero, 8

00197 Rome

Associates

J. de Schuyter

E.a.ir-hoofd vay dienst

Ministerie Vlaamse Gemeenschap, Waters

en Bossen

Belliardstraat, 14-18

1040 Brussel

Jean Renault Chef de service

Ministère de l'agriculture

Avenue du Boulevard, 21

1210 Bruxelles

Jaak Parmentier

Directeur

Ministère des affaires économiques

Rue du Commerce, 44

1040 Bruxelles

Advisers

Christian Lheureux

Secrétaire général

Fédération belge des exploitants forestiers

Galerie du Centre, Bloc 2

1000 Bruxelles

François Ruchenne

Secrétaire général

Fédération beige des scieries

Rue Royale 163

B-1210 Bruxelles

BULGARIA

Delegate

Christo Todorov

Chairman of the Committee on Forests at

the Council of Ministers of the Republic

of Bulgaria

Committee on Forests

Antim I Str. 17

Sofia

Alternate

Boris Kovachev

Chief Expert at the Committee on Forests of

the Republic of Bulgaria

Committee on Forests

Antim I Str. 17

Sofia

CANADA

Delegate

Jean Claude Mercier

Special Advisor

Natural Resources Canada

580 Booth Street

21st Floor

Ottawa

Ontario; K1A OE4

Alternate

Jeffrey Serveau Senior Officer Ministry of Industry and Science Canada 235 Queen Street Ottawa, K1A OH5

Associates

Warren Calow Director, Forest Industry Department of Natural Resources 351 St Joseph Boulevard Hull, Quebec

David Drake
Director, International Affairs
Canadian Forest Service
351 St Joseph Boulevard
Hull, Quebec

Rory McAlpine Counsellor (Forest Products) Canadian Mission to EEC Avenue de Tervuren, 2 1140 Brussels

Roger N. Southee Promotions Director, BPIB Europe Beaufort Park Almondsbury Bristol United Kingdom BS12 4NE

Adviser

William E. Townsley Industry Advisor to Canadian Delegations Council of Forest Industry 131-133 Upper Richmond Road London, SW 15 United Kingdom

CROATIA

Delegate

Rudolf Sabadi
Councellor
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry
President of the Managing Board of State
Forest Corporation
"Hrvatske Sume" Public Corp.
Vukotinoviceva, 2
Zagreb
Fax: +385-41-451138

CYPRUS

Delegate

Chrysanthos Loizides
Agricultural Attaché
Permanent Representation of the
Republic of Cyprus to FAO
Piàzza Farnese, 44
00186 Rome

CZECH REPUBLIC

Delegate

Vladimir Zatloukal

Director

Ministry of Agriculture

Tesnov, 17

Praha

Alternate

Karel Vancura
Forestry and Game Management Research
Institute
VULHM Jiloviste-Strnady
156 04 Praha 5, Zbraslav

Associate

Milan Drazdil Adviser Ministry of Industry and Trade Praha, Na Frantisky 32

Observer

Arpad Szabó Embassy of the Czech Republic Via dei Colli della Farnesina, 144 00194 Rome

DENMARK

Delegate

Chr. Lundmark Jensen Forestry Officer Ministry of the Environment Radvad, 19 2800 Lungby

Alternate

Aa. Marcus Pedersen Director Ministry of Agriculture Slotsholmsgach 10 1216 Copenhagen

ESTONIA

Delegate

Elena Askerstam Ambassador to FAO Via dei Corazzieri, 94 00143 Rome

EUROPEAN ECONOMIC COMMUNITY

- Member Organization
Delegates
(Mme) M. Lemasson Florenville

Administrateur à la Direction générale de l'agriculture Rue de la Loi, 120 1049 Bruxelles Jeremy Wall
Official of European Commission responsible for forest industries
Avenue des Nervions, 9
1040 Brussels

Advisers

Bernard Mallet Forestry Expert Direction générale de l'environnement Rue de la Loi, 200 1049 Bruxelles

Nathalie Creste EEC funzionario Conseil des Ministres des Communautés Européennes Rue de la Loi, 170 1048 Bruxelles

FINLAND

Delegates

Jan Heino
Deputy Director-General
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry
Hallituskatu, 3
SF - 01700 Heisinki

Timo Heikka Counseilor Finnish Forest Industries Etela Esplanadi, 2 00130 Heisinki

Alternates

Aulikki Kauppila Forestry Adviser Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry P.O. Box 232 00171 Helsinki

Pekka Patosaari Division Chief Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry Hallituşkatu, 3A 00170 Helsinki

Associates

Pekka Kallio-Mannila
Forest Economicst
Central Union of Agricultural Producers
and Forest Owners
Simonkatu 6, PL 510
10101 Helsinki

likka Pöyhönen Director Finnish Forest Industry Federation Etela Esplanadi, 2 00130 Helsinki

Adviser

Pentti Saarro Managing Director Finnish Plywood Association Rikhardink, 1819 00100 Helsinki

Observers

Benedict Airas Vice-President Jaakko Pöyry Consulting (UK) Ltd Century House Station Way Cheam, Surrey SM3 8SW United Kingdom

(Ms) Irma-Liisa Perttunen Counsellor, Deputy Representative of Finland to FAO Embassy of the Republic Finland Via Lisbona, 3 00198 Rome

FRANCE

Delegate

André Grammont Directeur espace rural et forêt Ministère de l'agriculture et pêche 78 rue de Varenne 75007 Paris

Alternates

Christian Berger
Conseiller scientifique
Représentation permanente auprès de la
FAO
Corso del Rinascimento, 52
00186 Rome

Oliver de Labarde Ministère de l'agriculture Sous-directeur des industries du bois 1ter av. Lowendal 75007 Paris

Associate

Pierre Verneret Directeur Fédération nationale du bois Ministère de l'agriculture FNB 1 Piace André Malraux 75001 Paris

Advisers

Guy de Reure Directeur Coopération Forestière, FNSPFS 6 rue de la Trémoille 75008 Paris Geneviève Rey Chef de département Office national des forêts 2 avenue de St Mandé 75012 Paris

Observers

Robert Braun Président OES 67280 Niederhaslach

Jacques Descargues Chargé de mission Office national des forêts 2 avenue de St Mandé 75012 Paris

Jean Fahys
Secrétaire général de l'Organisation
européenne de scierles
1 Place André Malraux
75001 Paris

Denis Spire Directeur général Fédération française du commerce du bois 8, rue du Colonel Moll 75017 Paris

GERMANY

Delegate

Ernst Wermann Director

Federal Ministry of Food, Agriculture and

Forestry Rochusstr. 1 D-53123 Bonn

Alternate

Hans-Willi Stinshoff
Head of Division
Ministry of Agriculture, Nutrition and
Forestry
Rochusstr. 1
D-53123 Bonn

Adviser

C. Johannes Mersmann Project Coordinator GTZ, Box 5180 63282 Eschborn Av. Dag Hammarskjöld

Observer

Hagen Frost Head of Division Ministry of Economics 53107 Bonn

GREECE

Delegate

Nicholas Efstathiadis Section Chief Ministry of Agriculture 3, Ippokratous Street GR-10164 Athens

HUNGARY

Delegates

Peter Csoka Deputy Director General

Forest Management Planning Service

Ministry of Agriculture H-1054 Budapest

Széchenyi u. 14

Zoltán Horváth

Head of Section, Department of Forestry Ministry of Agriculture

Budapest V

Kossuth L. tér 11

IRELAND

Delegate

Philip Carroll

Assistant Principal

Department of Agriculture, Food and

Forestry Leeson Lane

Dublin 2

Alternate

John Gaule

Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO

Embassy of Ireland Largo del Nazareno, 3 00187 Rome

Adviser

John McLoughlin General Manager - Marketing Irish Forestry Board Leeson Lane Dublin 2

ISRAEL

Delegate

Tzipura Rimon
Permanent Representative to FAO
Embassy of the State of Israel
Via Michele Mercati, 12
00197 Rome

ITALY

Delegate

Manlio Mariani
Dirigente Superiore
Coordinamento Politiche Agricole,
Alimentari e Forestali
Via G. Carducci, 5
00187 Roma

Alternates

Roberto Cavalensi Ispettore Capo Coordinamento Politiche Agricole, Alimentari e Forestali Via Carducci, 5 00187 Roma

Aleandro Falchi Primo Dirigente Coordinamento Politiche Agricole, Alimentari e Forestali Via Carducci, 5 00187 Roma

Paolo Vicentini
Funzionario Forestale
Coordinamento Politiche Agricole,
Alimentari e Forestali
Via Carducci, 5
00187 Roma

Associate

Maurizio Magni Dirigente Federlegno/Arredo Via Toscana, 10 00187 Roma

Adviser

Riccardo Morandini Direttore Istituto Sperimentale per la Selvicoltura Viale S. Margherita, 80 52100 Arezzo

Observers

Alessandra Argenti Dr. Forestale Federlegno/Arredo Via Toscana, 10 00187 Roma

Marco Borelli Ricercatore Società Agricola e Forestale (Italy) Strada per Frassineto (AL) 15033 Casale Monferrato (AL)

Aldo Palala Istituto Nazionale di Statistica - ISTAT Via C. Balbo, 16 00100 Roma

Tommaso Pedicini Primo Tecnologo ISTAT Via Balbo, 16 00100 Roma Giulio Sperandio Ricercatore Società Agricola e Forestale Via Casalotti, 300 00166 Roma

LATVIA

Delegate

Arnis Skulte Director Department of Agriculture State Forest Service 13 Janvara lela, 15 Riga LV-1932

Associates

Uldis Grava Head, Forest Utilization Department Latvian State Forest Service 13 Janvara, 15 Riga, LV-1932

Stanislaus Sarsuns Economist in Timber Marketing Ministry of Agriculture State Forest Service 13 Janvara, 15 Riga, LV-1050

Adviser

Manfred Faller Adviser to the Latvian State Forest Service Ministry of Agriculture 13. Janvara, 15 Riga, LV-1932

LITHUANIA

Delegate

Gintautas Kovalcikas Minister of Forestry Ministry of Forestry Gedimino pr. 56 2685 Vilnius

Alternate

Algirdas Zemaitis
'Ambassador
Permanent Representative to FAO
Permanent Representation of the Republic
of Lithuania to FAO
Via al Quarto Miglio, 111
'00178 Rome

NETHERLANDS

Delegate

F. C. Prillevitz
Permanent Representative to FAO and WFP
Permanent Mission of the Kingdom of the
Netherlands to FAO
Via delle Terme Decians, 6
00153 Rome

Alternates

P. R. Schutz Ministry of Agriculture P.O. Box 20401 2500 EK The Hague

Theo Widdershoven
Head, Marketing Section
State Forest Service
Ministry of Agriculture, Nature
Conservation & Fisheries
P.O. Box 1300
3970 BM Driebergen

Adviser

Louk J. M. Dielen Director Postbus 253 6700 AG Wageningen

NORWAY

Delegate

Oluf Aalde Director General of Forestry Ministry of Agriculture P.O. Box 8007, Dep. N-0030 Oslo

Alternates

Bjorn Akre Senior Executive Officer Ministry of Agriculture Department of Forestry P.O. Box 8007, Dep. N-0030 Oslo

Harald Garstad Adviser Ministry of Industry and Energy P.O. Box 8148 Dep. N-0033 Oslo

Adviser

Aasmund Bunkholt Senior Scientist Norwegian Forest Research Institute N-1432 Äs

Observers

Birger Eikenes
Professor
Agricultural University of Norway
P.O. Box 5044
N-1432 Äs

Finn Johansen
M. Director
The Norwegian Sawmill Industries
Association
P.O. Box 112, Blindern
Oslo

Egil Molteberg Managing Director Norwegian Forest Owners Association P.O. Box 1438 0115 Oslo

POLAND

Delegate

Jan Smardzewski
Director of Department
Ministry of Environmental Protection,
Natural Resources and Forestry
00922 Warsaw
ul. Wawelska 52/59

Alternate

Jan Bielawski
Permanent Representative to FAO
Embassy of the Republic of Poland
Via Pietro Paolo Rubens, 20
00197 Rome

Advisers

Kazimierz Rykowski Forestry Research Institute 00-973 Warsaw Bitwy Warszawskiej 120 str., N° 3

Stanislaw Zajac Ministry of Environment Protection, Natural Resources and Forestry ul. Woszyngtona 33 m.8 04-030 Warsaw

Associate

(Ms) Izabela Kakol
Chief, Foreign Cooperation
Forestry Department
Ministry of Environmental Protection,
Natural Resources and Forestry
00-922 Warsaw
Wawelska Str. 52/54

PORTUGAL[®]

Delegate

Pedro Berhan da Costa

Membre du Conseil direct de l'institut
forestier
Institut forestier agriculture
Av. João Crisóstomo, 28
1000 Lisbonne

Alternate

Jorge Casquilho
Directeur du département d'études et
planification
Institut forestier
Ministère de l'agriculture
Av. João Crisóstomo, 28
1000 Lisbonne

Observer

João Soares Chairman Emporsil-Empresa Portuguesa Silvicultura

Rua David de Sousa, 27 1000 Lisbonne

ROMANIA

Delegate

Ioan Ciurea

Ministère de l'industrie

Département de bois

Bucharest

Str. Fca. de Giucoza, nr. 7

Alternates

Marin Nicolae Ministère de l'industrie

Département de bois

Bucharest

Str. Catelu Nr. 66, Bloc 35A, Sect. 3

Romul-Remus Micu

Ministère de l'industrie

Département de bois

Cimpière

Str. Culturi 23 Prahova

Advisers

Romulus Morhru Directeur-SETPPL Ploiesti Roumanie Ministère d'Industrie SETTPPL-Ploiesti

RUSSIAN FEDERATION

Delegate

Grigoriy Napolov First Deputy Chairman Russian Federation State Committee of Industrial Policy Moscow

Alternates

Tatsioun Miron President of "Roslesprom" Telegraphny per. 1 Moscow

David Lipman President of the Union of Timber Manufacturers Telegraphny per. 1 Moscow

Advisers

Viatcheslav V. Sokolov Vice-Chairman Russian Union of Timber Exporters 1. Telegraphny per. 101934 Moscow

Andrei Skibinski Deputy Director General "Ruslegne S.P.A." Via Gregorio VII 00165 Rome

Serguei Bogdanov Permanent Observer of the Russian Federation to FAO Via C. Galassi Paluzzi, 5 00167 Rome

Burdin Nikolai Director of "VNIPIEILESPROM" Khimki-Khovrino Moscow

SLOVAK REPUBLIC

Delegate

Jan Ilavsky Associate Professor Forest Research Institute T.G. Masaryka 22 960 92 Zvolen FAX: +42 855 233 97

Observer

(Ms) Maria Kadlecikova First Secretary Embassy of Slovak Republic Via dei Colli della Farnesina, 144 00194 Rome

SPAIN

Delegate

Pedro Martínez Dr. Forest Engineer Ministerio de Agricultura, ICONA Gran Vía de San Francisco, 4 28005 - Madrid

Alternate

Jaime Garcia Badias Representante Permanente ante la FAO Embajada de España Largo dei Lombardi, 21 00186 Roma

Observer

Miguel Pérez Tunnado Pte. Unión Silvicultura de Europa Ministerio de Agricultura Menso 28 Bilbao

SWEDEN

Delegate

(Mrs) Astrid Bergquist Deputy Assistant Under-Secretary Ministry of Agriculture Drottninggatan, 21 S-10333 Stockholm

Alternates

Goran Gustafsson Head of Section Ministry of Industry and Commerce S-10333 Stockholm

Inge Gerremo
Alternate Permanent Representative to FAO
Royal Swedish Embassy
Piazza Rio de Janeiro, 3
00161 Rome

Associates

Roger Asserstahl
Managing Director
Domän AB (on behalf of Industrial
Ministry)
Domän Skog AB
S-79181 Falun

Stefan Bucht
Head of Department
National Board of Forestry
Ministry of Agriculture
S-55183 Jönköping

Sven Sjunnesson Forest Director Ministry of Agriculture Federation of Forest Owners 105 33 Stockholm

Sven A. Svensson National Board of Forestry S-551 83 Jönköping

SWITZERLAND

Delegate

Heinz Wandeler Directeur fédéral des forêts Direction fédérale des forêts 3003 Berne

Alternate

Pierre Mühlemann Section économie et politique forestières Direction fédérale des forêts 3003 Berne

Associate

Franz Schmithuesen Prof. Dr. Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale 8092 Zürich

TURKEY

Delegate

Raif Ergin Dönmez Dep. Head of Foreign Relations and Ec. Ministry of Forestry Bakanliklar Ankara

Alternate

Mesut Yasar Kamiloglu Division Director, Ministry of Forestry Orman Bakanlegi Disiliskiler AT Dairesi Bakanliklar Ankara

UKRAINE

Delegate

Anatoli Orel Ambassador to FAO Embassy of Ukraine Via Castelfidardo, 50 00185 Rome

UNITED KINGDOM

Delegate

David Foot Commissioner Forestry Commission 231 Corstorphine Road Edinburgh EH12 7AT

Alternates

William Sheridan
Head of International Relations Division
Forestry Commission
231 Corstorphine Road
Edinburgh EH12 7AT

David Sands Smith
Permanent Representative to FAO
Permanent Representation of the United
Kingdom to FAO
Viale Aventino, 36
00153 Rome

Adviser

Adrian Whiteman Economist Forestry Commission 231 Corstorphine Road Edinburgh EH12 7AT

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Delegate

David Darr
Branch Chief
Forest Service
US Department of Agriculture
P.O. Box 96090

FO:EFC/93/REP Page 22

Advisers

David Brooks
Research Forester, Forest Service
US Department of Agriculture
PNW Research Station
3200 SW Jefferson Way
Corvallis, OR 97331

Michael Buckley AMEC European Director 19/25 Argyll Street London WIV 1AA United Kingdom

Observer

John Mentis
Director, International Trade
American Forest and Paper Association
1250 Connecticut Avenue NW
Second Floor
Washington, D.C. 20036

OBSERVERS FROM INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)

Gérard Bonnis
Administrator, Country Studies Division II and Environment
Directorate for Food, Agriculture and Fisheries
Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
2, rue André-Pascal
75775 Paris Cédex 16
France

OBSERVERS FROM INTERNATIONAL NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

European Confederation of Woodworking Industries

Olivier d'Ydewalle
Délégué permanent
Conféderation européenne des
industries du bois
Rue de l'Association, 15
1000 Bruxelles
Belgique

European Federation of Associations of Particleboard Manufacturers

Giuseppe Trippodo Consulente Federazione Nazionale dei Commercianti del Legno Piazza Gondar, 14 00199 Rome Italy

European Forest Institute

Birger Solberg Director European Forest Institute Torikatu 34 SF - 80100 Joensuu Finland

Kullervo Kuusela European Forest Institute Torikatu 34 SF - 80100 Joensuu Finland

Greenpeace International

Martin Frimmel Campaigner Greenpeace Austria Avenbruggerg 2 1030 Vienna Austria

International Technical Tropical Timber Association

Henri Montcerisier
Président
Association technique internationale des bois tropicaux
8, rue du Colonel Moll
75017 Paris
France

Denis Spire
Secrétaire général
Association technique internationale des bois tropicaux
8, rue du Colonel Moll
75017 Paris
France

International Union of Forestry Research Organizations

Riccardo Morandini Istituto Sperimentale per la Selvicoltura Viale S. Margherita, 80 I-52100 Arezzo Italia

LIST OF DOCUMENTS

Agenda item	Document Nº	Title
1 ,	ECE/TIM/69 FO:EFC/93/1	Provisional Agenda
3	TIM/R.220 FO:EFC/93/2	Global Forest Resources Assessment 1990
3(a)	TIM/R.221 FO:EFC/93/3	Main findings and policy implications of the temperate zone forest resources assessment 1990
3(b)	TIM/R.222 FO:EFC/93/4	Follow-up to the 1990 assessment and preparations for the next round of global forest resources assessment
4 .	TIM/R.223 FO:EFC/93/5	Implications of UNCED
5	TIM/R.224 FO:EFC/93/6	Assistance to countries of central and eastern Europe in transition
6	TIM/R.225 FO:EFC/93/7	Joint subsidiary bodies and other matters of common interest to the Committee and the Commission
6(a)	TIM/EFC/WP.1/R.109/ Rev. 1	Conclusions and recommendations of Joint Committee seminars, workshop and ad hoc meeting of concern to its parent bodies
6(a)	TIM/EFC/WP.1/22	Joint Committee on Forest Technology, Management and Training - Report of the nineteenth session
6(b)	TIM/EFC/WP.2/23	Joint Working Party on Forest Economics and Statistics - Report of the nineteenth session
6(c)	TIM/R.226 FO:EFC/93/8	Joint study tour in the United States of America
6(d)	TIM/R.227 FO:EFC/93/9	European Timber Trends and Prospects Study (ETTS V): Progress Report
6(e)	TIM/R.228 FO:EFC/93/10	Meeting of the FAO/ECE team of public relations specialists in the forest and forest industries sector
6(f)	TIM/R.229 and Add. 1 FO:EFC/93/11 and Add. 1	Study on long-term historical changes to the temperate forest resource: pilot study
6(g)	TIM/R.230 FO:EFC/93/12	European support to the Tropical Forests Action Programme (TFAP)

6(h)	TIM/R.225/Add. 1 FO:EFC/93/7/Add. 1	Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe
7	TIM/R.231 FO:EFC/93/13	Market developments in 1993 and prospects for 1994
8(a)	FO:EFC/93/14	Matters arising from the eighteenth Regional Conference for Europe and the eleventh session of the Committee on Forestry
8(b)	FO:EFC/93/15	Follow-up to the conclusions and recommendations of the twenty-fifth session of the Commission
8(c)	FO:EFC/93/16	Activities relating to the AFWC/EFC/NEFC Committee on Mediterranean Forestry Questions - Silva Mediterranea
8(d)·	FO:EFC/93/17	Working Party on the Management of Mountain Watersheds
8(f)	FO:EFC/93/18	Programme of work of the European Forestry Commission, 1994-1998
9(a)	TIM/R.232	Matters arising from the forty-eighth session of the Economic Commission for Europe
9(b)	TIM/R.233	Activities of other principal subsidiary bodies of ECE of concern to the Timber Committee
9(c)	TIM/R.234	Other activities under the Timber Committee
9(d)	TIM/R.235	Review and revision of the draft programme of work for 1994-1998
All	FO:EFC/93/19	Statement of competence and voting rights by the European Economic Community and its Member States

PROGRAMME OF WORK OF THE EUROPEAN FORESTRY COMMISSION, 1994 TO 1998

N.B. This programme was endorsed by the twenty-sixth session in October 1993, pending a revision in the light of UNCED and the Helsinki Ministerial Conference.

1997 1998	28th session in¹ 21st session of the Executive Committee	Review of developments at 28th session	Review of related topic at 28th session	Review of related topic at 28th session	Review of related topic at 28th session
1996	20th session of the Executive Committee		<u> </u>		
1995	27th session in Turkey	Review of developments at 27th session	Review of related topic at 27th session	Review of related topic at 27th session	Review of related topic at 27th session
1994	19th session of the Executive Committee				
MAIN PROBLEM AREA	1. EUROPEAN FORESTRY COMMISSION	 Policies relating to public and private forestry, including administration, legislation and institutions 	 Role of forests in providing forest products and environmental and social services 	 Protection of forests: from fire from air pollution 	3.3 - from other causes of damage (storms, insects, diseases, game, etc.)

Host country to be decided.

Subject to confirmation.

Ž	MAIN PROBLEM AREA	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998
4	Long-term European forestry and timber trends and prospects (jointly with the ECE Timber Committee)	Preparatory work on Fifth European Timber Trends and Prospects Study (ETTS V) Ad hoc meeting of experts on the policy context for ETTS V	Ad hoc meeting of experts to review draft of ETTS V	Pubication of ETTS V		
r.	Outlook for the non-wood goods and services of the forest	Team of specialists to develop proposals for a study	elop proposals for a	As decided by the Statistics Working Party		
ဖ်	Public relations in the forestry and forest industries sector	Activities according to the mandate of the team of specialists				
	Follow-up to UNCED and Helsinki Ministerial Conference	Development of detailed proposals and preliminary implementation	As decided by 27th session			
=	FOREST TECHNOLOGY, MANAGEMENT AND TRAINING	Covered by the activities of the joint FAO (Programme reference TIM/EFC/WP.1/22) 20th session of the Steering ComJoint Committee ¹	of the joint FAC/ECE/ILO // JEFC/WP.1/22) 12th session of the Steering Committee 1	Covered by the activities of the joint FAO/ECE/ILO Committee on Forest Technology, Management and Training (Programme reference TIM/EFC/WP.1/22) 20th session of the Steering Committee Joint Committee Steering Committee Joint Committee	ology, Management and 13th session of the Steering Committee	1 Training 22nd session of the Joint Committee

¹ Host country to be decided.

² Subject to confirmation.

Σ	MAIN PROBLEM AREA	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998
4	SILVICULTURAL OPERATIONS AND GENERAL MANAGEMENT ASPECTS					
,	Development and use of methods and equipment for silvicultural operations, including stand establishment and multiple use forestry			``		
·	1.1 - Afforestation techniques on agricultural land	Seminer in Poland ² on afforestation techniques on abandoned agricultural land				
	1.2 - Site demage risks	Team of specialists to pre Committee and complete	ists to prepare progress report for the 20th session of Joint complete the project in 1994	ne 20th session of Joint		
		Workshop jointly with IUFRO in inter-actions in forest operations	Workshop jointly with IUFRO in Germany in 1994 on soil, tree, machine inter-actions in forest operations	n soil, tree, machine		
	1.3 - Multiple use forestry	Team of specialists to pre 20th session of Joint Con project in 1995. Seminar	ists to prepare progress report to Joint Committee and complete Seminar in 1995 ¹			
	1.4 - Model Forest Damage Manual	Publication of Manual				
2.	Forest fire prevention and control	Biannual publication of <i>International Forest Fire</i> News	emational Forest Fire			
·		Team of specialists to prepare progress report to 20th session of Joint Committee	pare progress report to nmittee			
က်	Methods and procedures for the preparation and implementation of forest management plans	Further activities to be decided by 20th session of Joint Committee				

¹ Host country to be decided.

Subject to confirmation.

300 (00) 300 (00) 300 (00)					
1998					
))					
				:	
1997					
3					
	•				
***			-		
	• ,				
1996					
19					
				·	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		-	, st ×	등부분
2				of fore	Czek fores on ar with
1995				a² on 3e) ar	op in c on Recti , in tion
				maní Bnanc	Workshop in Czech Republic on forest seed collection and storage, in cooperation with Slovakia ²
				Seminar or other activity in Romania² on forest roads (construction and maintenance) and raw material transport (or in 1995) Team of specialists to prepare proposals for 20th session of Joint Committee	Sico Sico
	in in by e of t		lon lin	Seminar or other activity in Roroads (construction and maint material transport (or in 1995) Team of specialists to prepare proposals for 20th session of Joint Committee	2 3
	arus c stry i m of lated lease elease iterial		reece legrac rests xan	er activor al out (or lilists to als for f Joint	ermal
1994	Seminar in Belarus on the role of forastry in the rehabilitation of areas contaminated by an accidental release of radio-active material into the environment		Workshop in Greece on harvesting and silviculture in degraded and coppice forests in the Mediterranean region	Seminar or other activeraces (construction and material transport (or in Team of specialists to prepare proposals for 20th session of Joint Committee	Workshop in Germany on small-scale forestry aspects
	inar in ole of ole of ole of ole of ole of ole		ssting ssting ulture coppi Aedite n	Seminar or roads (con material tra Team of sp prepare pro 20th sessic	mall-s
	Sem the r the r areas an ac radio		Works harves silvicu and country the Market region	Semi roade mate Tearr preps 20th Comi	Workshi on smal aspects
	Impact of nuclear accidents on forest ecosystems		Development and use of harvesting machinery and systems	leria!	and to
	cosy	HT.	chine	w mai	entra
	est e	WOOD HARVESTING AND TRANSPORT	g ma	Forest roads and transport of wood raw material	Workshops in support of countries of central and eastern Europe in transition on topics related to wood harvesting and transport
	n for	TRA	estini	, AO	ntries n top t
	nts o	S	harv	po re	Workshops in support of count eastern Europe in transition on wood harvesting and transport
Ð	ccide	Q Q	Jo es	odsu	ort of ansiti d tra
A A	387 81	STIP	5 2	d tr	suppo in tra
ER	uncit	ARV	ent a	पुरुष्	s in s Irope /estir
ROB	ct of	D T	Davelopme systems	it roa	shop rn Eu
	- S	8	ste	88	/ork aste
00000	<u> </u>	>	~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	1 17	15 % 2
MAIN PROBLEM AREA	4. <u>m</u>	8	". Ω &	ν; π	3. X & X

¹ Hast country to be decided.

² Subject to confirmation.

Ž	MAIN PROBLEM AREA	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998
o -	VOCATIONAL TRAINING, APPLIED ERGONOMICS, OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH OF FOREST WORKERS Vocational training in forestry	Comparative study on professions, skills and training (in cooperation with Switzerland) International network in the forestry work force Seminar in Portugal on forest workers' training in Mediterranean countries	Seminar in Switzerland on (topic to be decided within work area C)		Seminar in¹ on (topic to be decided within work area C)	
2,	Applied ergonomics, safety and health in forestry operations	Seminar in Finland on personal protective equipment		Seminar in¹ on (topic to be decided)		
ю́	Transfer of technical information and experience	Publication of seminar proceedings: countries and for forestry students	ceedings; provision by se students	Publication of seminar proceedings; provision by seminar host countries of fellowships for participants from developing countries and for forestry students	wships for participants	from developing
=	FOREST ECONOMICS AND STATISTICS	Covered by the activities of the Joint FAC (Programme reference TIM/EFC/WP.2/23)	of the Joint FAO/ECE Wor	activities of the Joint FAO/ECE Working Party on Forest Economics and Statistics (WP) srence TIM/EFC/WP.2/23)	mics and Statistics (WP)	-
			20th session of the WP		21st session of the WP	

¹ Host country to be decided.

Subject to confirmation.

	MAIN PROBLEM AREA	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998
-	Forest resource assessment	Publication of case studies of long-term changes in	Team of specialists on Forest Resource Assessment to report		Team of specialists on Forest Resource Assessment to	
		temperate-zone forest resources (as decided by Joint Session)	to the WP's 20th session, with proposals for		report to the WP's 21st session	
		Publication of a supplement to the Forest Resource	of global assessment			
· .		Assessment, containing information on countries constituted since the carrying out of the 1990 enquiry	:			
2,	Quantification and evaluation of the environmental benefits of the forest	To be covered together with the study on the outlook for non-wood goods and services				
ಣ	Productivity in the forest sector	Publication of a study on productivity and profitability in the forest sector	Further work as decided by 20th session of the WP			
4	Collection of forest products statistics and publication of Timber Bulletin	Volume XLVII	Volume XLVIII	Volume XLIX	Volume L	Volume Ll
		The <i>Timber Bulletin</i> provide Products Market Review an	is regular statistics on pr nd the estimates of the T	The <i>Timber Bulletin</i> provides regular statistics on production, removals, trade and prices of forest products, the Annual Forest Products Market Review and the estimates of the Timber Committee for the current and forthcoming years.	nd prices of forest prod rrent and forthcoming v	ucts, the Annual Forest rears.
		Publication of forest and forest products country profiles Publication of surveys of medium-term trends in industry	rest products country pr edium-term trends in ind	Publication of forest and forest products country profiles Publication of surveys of medium-term trends in industry sectors (wood raw material, sawnwood, wood-based panels)	aterial, sawnwood, woo	d-based panels)

Host country to be decided.

Subject to confirmation.

Σ	MAIN PROBLEM AREA	1994	1995	1996	1997	8661
ເດ້	Improvement of the quality of forest and forest products statistics (including their collection and dissemination systems)	Continuing review at each session of the WP Publication of four-yearly survey on conversion factors	At its 20th session the WP will agree on a timetable for revision of the FAO/FCE Classification and Definitions of Forest Products		Four-yearly survey of conversion factors at 21st session and publication in 1998	
Θ.	Forest fire statistics	Annual survey of number,	area, causes, value of damage, etc.	mage, etc.		
7.	Workshops in support of countries of central and eastern Europe in transition on topics related to forest economics and statistics	Workshop in the Czech Republic on evaluation of total forest benefits	Workshop in France ² on forest management planning and inventory			
ω.	Transfer of economic and statistical methods and experience in the forest products sector	Participation of experts in WP activities, notably in III.1 and 2, will be er experts in developing countries to receive Working Party documentation	WP activities, notably in tries to receive Working	Participation of experts in WP activities, notably in III.1 and 2, will be encouraged. experts in developing countries to receive Working Party documentation		Arrangements are provided for interested
≥.	WATERSHED MANAGEMENT	Covered by the activities o	if the Working Party on th	ctivities of the Working Party on the Management of Mountain Watersheds	Watersheds	
	Working Party sessions	19th session in Spain		20th session in¹		21st session in¹
તં	Activities	Reports on geographic information systems and their application to watershed management and on mechanics of torrent hydraulics and methods of calculation				
		Implementation of resolution S4 of Strasbourg Ministerial Conference	on S4 of Strasbourg Minis	sterial Conference		
> ∸	MEDITERRANEAN FORESTRY QUESTIONS Sessions of Silva Mediterranea	Covered by the activities o	f the AFWC/EFC/NEFC C	Covered by the activities of the AFWC/EFC/NEFC Committee on Mediterranean Forestry Questions - Silva Mediterranea	Forestry Questions - S	ilva Mediterranea 18th session in¹
તં	Activities	Networks on forest fire ma of <i>Pinus pinea</i> , selection o Coordination of and follow	nagement, multi-purpose stands of Mediterranear up to the Mediterranean	Networks on forest fire management, multi-purpose species in arid and semi-arid zones, silviculture of <i>Cedrus spp.</i> , silviculture of <i>Pinus pinea</i> , selection of stands of Mediterranean conifers for seed production, cork oak Coordination of and follow-up to the Mediterranean Forest Action Programme (MED-FAP)	id zones, silviculture of n, cork oak MED-FAP)	Cedrus spp., silviculture

Host country to be decided. Subject to confirmation.

MEMBERS OF THE EUROPEAN FORESTRY COMMISSION

Austria
Belgium
Bulgaria
Cyprus
Denmark
Finland
France
Germany
Greece
Hungary
Iceland
Ireland
Israel

Lithuania
Luxembourg
Malta
Netherlands
Norway
Poland
Portugal
Romania
Spain
Sweden
Switzerland
Turkey

United Kingdom

ltaly

MEMBERS OF THE ECE TIMBER COMMITTEE

Albania Andorra Armenia Austria Azerbaijan Belarus Belgium

Bosnia and Herzegovina Bulgaria Canada

Croatia

Cyprus

Czech Republic

Denmark Estonia Finland France Georgia Germany Greece

Hungary

Iceland Ireland Israel

Italy Kyrgyzstan Latvia

Liechtenstein
Lithuania
Luxembourg
Malta
Monaco
Netherlands
Norway
Poland
Portugal

Republic of Moldova

Romania

Russian Federation

San Marino Slovakia Slovenia Spain Sweden Switzerland

The former Yugoslav Republic of

Macedonia

Turkey

Turkmenistan

Ukraine

United Kingdom

United States of America

Uzbekistan

W/T0989E/1/12.93/300